IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1981

An economic analysis of alternative government policies for controlling soil erosion

Michael Joseph Maasen Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the <u>Agricultural and Resource Economics Commons</u>, <u>Agricultural Economics Commons</u>, and the <u>Economics Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Maasen, Michael Joseph, "An economic analysis of alternative government policies for controlling soil erosion" (1981). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 17037. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/17037

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



201

An economic analysis of alternative government

policies for controlling soil erosion *I*54 1981 by M112 e.3 Michael Joseph Maasen

A Thesis Submitted to the

Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department: Economics Major: Agricultural Economics

Signatures have been redacted for privacy

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa 1981

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
Organization	3
Factors Influencing Soil Erosion	4
Externalities and Economics	6
Control Mechanisms	10
CHAPTER II. MODEL	15
CHAPTER III. STUDY AREA DATA	25
The Study Area	25
Model Data Requirements	27
Measurement of Soil Erosion	29
Administrative Costs	37
CHAPTER IV. ANALYSIS OF POLICY OPTIONS FOR CONTROLLING SOIL EROSION	40
Base Line Solution	40
Tax on Soil Loss	41
Subsidy for Soil Loss Abatement	43a
Direct Regulation of Practices	44
Direct Regulation of Per Acre Soil Loss	44
Subsidization of Terracing Costs	48
Subsidy of Purchase of Zero-Till Planter	50
CHAPTER V. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH NEEDS	51
BTBLTOGRAPHY	54

ii

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	58b
APPENDIX A	59
APPENDIX B	67
APPENDIX C	73

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 3.1.	Soil type acreages of Four-Mile Creek Watershed	26
Table 3.2.	Corn suitability ratings for major soil types and slope phases in Four-Mile Creek Watershed	26
Table 3.3.	Aggregate farm soil types and corresponding proportion and acreage	30
Table 3.4.	K values for major soil types	33
Table 3.5.	USLE C factors for crop rotations and tillage practice	33
Table 3.6.	USLE P factor for slope classification	36
Table 3.7.	Terrace spacing requirement	36
Table 4.1.	Social cost of a one-year per ton tax program	43Ъ
Table 4.2.	Social cost of a one-year per ton subsidy program	4 3 b
Table 4.3.	Social cost of a one-year policy restricting per acre soil erosion	43c
Table A.1.	Fertilizer applications for corn production	60
Table A.2.	Fertilizer applications for soybeans, oats, and hay production	61
Table A.3a.	Herbicide requirements for corn production, continuous corn, corn-soybeans, and corn-corn- oats-meadow-meadow rotations, on major soil types	62
Table A.3b.	Herbicide requirements for production of soybeans, corn-soybeans rotation, on major soil types	63
Table A.3c.	Herbicide requirements for production of soybeans, corn-soybeans rotation, using the zero-tillage method of tillage, on major soil types	64
	ವರ್ಷವರ್ಷ. ಪ⊈ ⊈ಂದರ್ಶ.	04

iv

Page

Table A.3d.	Herbicide requirements for production of oats, corn-corn-oats-meadow-meadow rotation, on major soil types	65
Table A.3e.	Herbicide requirement for production of hay, corn-corn-oats-meadow-meadow rotation, on major soil types	65
Table A.4.	Price vector	66
Table B.1.	Administrative costs for tax and subsidy policies	68
Table B.2.	Administrative costs for terracing costs subsidy	69
Table B.3.	Administrative costs for zero-till planter subsidy	70
Table B.4.	Administrative costs for policy of direct regulation of specific practices	71
Table B.5.	Administrative costs for policy regulating soil loss by limits	72
Table C.1.	Results of tax on soil loss	74
Table C.2.	Results of subsidizing soil loss abatement	75
Table C.3.	Results of policy directly controlling soil loss through limitations	76

v

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this chapter is to explain the agricultural water pollution problem, its sources and effects, and to investigate means of control. The factors influencing soil erosion are examined with regard to natural components and man-made ones. Finally, the economic rationalization for the reduction of the externality is examined and the effect of abatement tools upon the level of pollution are analyzed.

Water pollution from nonpoint sources (NPS) is a serious problem in the United States, affecting eighty-seven percent of all river basins (U.S.E.P.A. (39)). The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, through its congressional mandate from the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, has declared a 1983 goal of "fishable and swimmable" waters throughout the country. Because of the magnitude of NPS water pollution, the nation most probably will not meet this goal (Portney (29)).

The sources of NPS water pollution are varied, and include urban runoff, construction site erosion, mining activity, forest area runoff and agricultural runoff. The major source of NPS water pollution is agricultural activity, affecting sixty-two percent of all river basins (U.S.E.P.A. (40)).

For Iowa's rivers, particularly the Iowa and Cedar rivers basins, the major problems resulting from NPS water pollution are bacteria growth, the presence of excess nutrients, dissolved solids and pesticides. There are agricultural sources of all these residuals

(U.S.E.P.A. (39)). The problem of bacteria growth, and to some extent excess nutrients, is due mainly to feedlot operations (Wilson (43)). The remaining problems of dissolved solids and pesticides, as well as a large portion of the nutrient problem, are attributable to crop production practices.

The pesticide and fertilizer residuals result from the same chemicals the farmer uses to produce his crops. These ingredients are washed from the soil in rain water or are transported into the stream with the sediment. The pesticides, particularly the oil-based ones, adhere to the soil particles and enter the stream with the water. Other chemicals, such as nitrogen, assimilate with the soil and enter the stream with the sediment (Wilson (43)).

The effects of pesticides on man and aquatic life are not well known. Man normally ingests small amounts of pesticides over a long period, storing the substances in his fatty tissue. The levels build up over time, increasing the risk to the carrier. This risk includes possible genetic problems and increased risk of cancer (Miranowski (26)). The pesticide issue will not be examined in this paper.

The effects of the nutrients, while thought to be pervasive, are also not well-documented. The interaction of nitrogen and water will often result in nitrite formation; nitrites interfere with the movement of oxygen by hemoglobin in the blood of mammals. Phosphorous and the resulting phosphates act as a nutrient for plant algae. When phosphates are present in concentrated forms, their presence causes the algae to grow rapidly or bloom. This is part of the eutrophication process,

a natural process which normally takes thousands of years, turning lakes into marshes. However, when the bloom occurs, the algae die from lack of carbon dioxide and then decay. This decaying process upsets the ecological balance of the water body as it absorbs the available oxygen, depriving aquatic life of its needed oxygen. This furthers the eutrophication process, prematurely "killing" the body of water. Nitrites also contribute to the eutrophication process (Wilson (43); U.S.E.P.A. (40)).

The sediment from agricultural land, beyond serving as a delivery mechanism for the chemicals, is a direct problem. The sediment increases the turbidity of the water it enters, generally reducing the water's aesthetic value (Freeman (14)). The sediment also reduces the life of reservoir projects. When a river carrying sediment is impounded, that sediment will be dropped at the dam site, decreasing the reservoir's storage capacity. Also, to the extent that erosion is not planned for in the project, dam life will decrease.

This paper proposes several ways to abate this sediment pollution. All strategies involve government intervention, justified on economic grounds because of the externalities produced by the pollution. The policy methods for dealing with the problem are compared based on costs, production levels, farmer incomes and pollution abatement.

Organization

This paper is organized into four sections. The first is a general introductory chapter, detailing the water pollution problem and

possible remedies. This chapter includes a brief rationale for economic involvement in the pollution problem. The second chapter presents the linear programming model used for analysis as well as some of its limitations. The third chapter discusses the data needs, how they are met, and the necessary assumptions. Finally, the results of the model and policy alternatives are detailed in the final chapter.

Factors Influencing Soil Erosion

The amount of soil loss in any time period is a function of many variables. There are both natural factors, inherent in the soil, and management factors, controllable by man's choices. Soil type, determined by the soil's parent material, greatly influences erosion levels. That quality of the soil which influences erosion is called erodibility, or the resistance of the soil to both transport and detachment. This erodibility is determined in part by the soil texture, the organic content, the stability of the soil, its shear strength, and its infiltration capacity (Morgan (27)).

Another key factor is the slope of the plot. Holding other factors constant, an area which has a steeper slope than another can be expected to yield more soil. First, long steep slopes are generally characterized by less top soil and so are less permeable, resulting in more runoff. Second, the greater the slope the more energy the water collects. The water runs off the slope with a greater velocity, thereby increasing the water's capacity to carry a load.

These factors are natural. Other factors influence erosion which are management controlled. These factors include the choice of crop and tillage method. Crop cover is an important factor in soil erosion. When rain drops fall they bombard the soil particles, forcing the particles loose. The crop cover or canopy shields the soil particles from the full erosive force of the rain. Leafy plants allow the rain to collect and drop slowly onto the soil, decreasing the rain's erosivity (Morgan (27); Wischmeier and Smith (44)).

Tillage practices affect erosion by both changing the soil's canopy and the soil's physical properties. Depending on the type of tillage an operator uses, the timing of the tillage operation, and the direction of tillage, the soil erosion from a given plot can be expected to differ. For instance, the use of a moldboard plow reduces the amount of residue from the crop, instead incorporating the residue into the soil. This allows the rain to impact the soil with greater force. This residue incorporation does, however, increase the organic content of the soil, at least partially offsetting the increased erodibility.

The timing of the primary tillage operation is also important as it determines how long the soil will be exposed to the natural forces. Soil which is tilled in the fall will be exposed to erosion forces longer than soil tilled in the spring and still longer than soil which is not tilled but is simply planted. By choosing the direction of planting, the operator can influence the soil erosion level. Tillage up and down the slope of the land will result in more erosion than

contour tillage which follows the contours of the land. This is due to the velocity of the water. Up-and-down tillage, especially with a row crop such as corn, leaves little to impede the running water; in fact the valley between the planting ridges serves as a channel, increasing the velocity and therefore the load carrying capacity of the water.

Contour tillage serves to decrease the water's velocity, forcing the water to drop its load. As the water slows, more can infiltrate the top soil.

A derivation of contour tillage, referred to as terracing, serves much the same purpose as contouring. Contour tillage is practicable only on soils of sufficient slope length; plots with slope lengths less than the minimum will result in destroyed contours. Terracing changes the slope length by physically changing the length of the plot. Embankments are placed so that contouring is possible. While this has all the benefits associated with contouring, it also has the added detriment of decreasing the land available for tillage and complicating the tillage process.

Externalities and Economics

One basic goal of economics is to provide an efficient allocation of resources. For a system to meet this goal, certain conditions must be met. Furthermore, through the economist's definition of efficiency, for any allocation to be Pareto-efficient, specific conditions must be met. For a market economy, these specific conditions include price

competition in all markets, all goods produced with constant or increasing costs, perfect knowledge, perfect mobility of resources, and no public goods. In general, a Pareto-efficient outcome is where the marginal rate of substitution for any pair of goods is equal to the marginal rate of transformation (Baumol (4)). In a private market economy, an efficient outcome is where the price of any good or service is equal to its marginal rate of transformation which is in turn equal to its marginal private cost. Since no public goods exist, price will then equal marginal social cost (MSC), seen as society's valuation for the production of a marginal unit.

If we assume a social welfare function exists, we can find a Pareto-efficient resource allocation. This social welfare function must accurately relate the utility levels of all members of society; such a function is maximized where MSC equal marginal social benefits equal marginal private costs or price. If these conditions are not met, a Pareto-efficient allocation is not possible and resource misallocation will result.

The source of this misallocation is usually referred to as an externality. If for whatever reason price does not equal MSC, i.e., price does not reflect the true marginal cost to society, then an externality exists which results in a misallocation of resources. However, the presence of an externality does not preclude Paretooptimality; <u>ceteris paribus</u>, if the externality's price does not equal its MSC, a misallocation will occur (Baumol and Oates (5)). If the externality's price does equal the MSC of the externality, the

resulting allocation will be Pareto optimal although the externality may still exist.

The conditions for a particular Pareto optimum, assuming the first-order and second-order conditions for Pareto optimality are met, can be determined with regard to a given market by maximizing producer and consumer surpluses. Assume some externality, created by the production of output Q, yields a social damage function whose principal is the level of output, Q. Further, assume that this social damage function is Pareto-efficiently priced. Then the value of producer and consumer surpluses is given by

(1.1)
$$\int_0^Q P(\theta) d\theta - [C(Q) + D(Q)]$$

where $P(\theta)$ can be seen as the demand function for the output Q, C(Q) as the total private cost, and D(Q) is the damage function relating society's valuation of the externality, Pareto-efficiently priced.

Pareto optimality is attained where this expression is maximized, or where

(1.2)
$$\frac{\partial \int_{0}^{Q} P(\theta) d\theta}{\partial Q} - \left[\frac{\partial C(Q)}{\partial Q} + \frac{\partial D(Q)}{\partial Q}\right] = 0$$

or:

(1.3)
$$\frac{\partial \int_{0}^{Q} P(\theta) d\theta}{\partial Q} = \frac{\partial C(Q)}{\partial Q} + \frac{\partial D(Q)}{\partial Q}$$

with the appropriate second-order conditions of increasing costs or a downward sloping demand curve being satisfied.

The left-hand side can be interpreted as price, the right-hand

side as marginal social cost. If the damage done by the production of Q is not priced, then the economy will not achieve Pareto optimality. Price will not equal MSC but rather marginal private cost, $\frac{\partial C(Q)}{\partial Q}$.

When this condition of price equaling MSC is not met, society is not operating along its production possibilities frontier. The production mix is suboptimal by the Kaldor criteria and some change is possible which will benefit at least one person without making others worse off.

The externality problem has long been recognized by economists and many classification systems have been developed to aid in rectifying the problem. By one set of terminology, the pollution resulting from soil erosion is a technological externality. Such an externality exists when the assumption of independent utility or production functions is violated.

Associated with the concept of a technological externality is a classification system distinguishing between unpaid factors of production and the creation of an atmosphere effect. This unpaid factor of production classification is very similar to a common property resource problem, with Meade's example of apple nectar and bees being the often-cited case (Meade (25)).

Bator extended theoretically the previous system to include three types of technological externalities: ownership, technical, and public good (Bator (2)). An ownership externality is basically Meade's unpaid factor of production and results from a divorce of

effective resource ownership from the user. Utilizing Bator's terminology, a technical externality is an example of a natural monopoly, or the case of increasing returns to scale. A public good externality closely follows the definition of a public good: when one person's consumption of the externality does not reduce the level available for others and no price exists for the product, i.e., the externality.

Water pollution resulting from soil erosion, and most other pollution problems, are examples of Bator's public good externality. With the soil erosion problem, the system fails for lack of existence. <u>A priori</u>, no market for large numbers of participants exists which will accurately price the soil erosion by incorporating the costs such erosion forces on others downstream. It is the divergence between the farmer's private costs and the total cost to society which causes the externality and the resulting misallocation.

Control Mechanisms

Economists have suggested various policy options for controlling externalities, all of which are relevant for soil erosion. These options include taxation, subsidization, auction rights for polluting, direct regulation and other means incorporating certain aspects of these primary options.

The economic goal of these methods is to reduce the pollution to the socially optimal level. To meet this goal, a tax may be levied on the pollutant or some directly related agent. The rationale for

the tax is straightforward: the marginal private costs are less than the marginal social costs. A properly designed tax will increase marginal private costs to the level of MSC. This is a Pigouvian tax in the tradition of the literature, where the tax on the externality producing activity is equal to the difference between marginal social and marginal private costs (Baumol (4); Baumol and Oates (5)).

The subsidy tool is very similar to the tax in its effect on the resulting level of pollutant, but different in its approach. The method is to subsidize the reduction in pollutant emission, with the subsidy payment being directly related to the level of reduced externality, on a per-unit basis. Frequently, the units are such that the subsidy may take on the character of a lump sum subsidy. Also, the nature of the subsidy may be either general or specific. The general form is directed solely at abatement. The specific form subsidizes one or a set of specific practices which may or may not be the least cost means of abatement. In either case, the subsidy is on the pollution creating activity.

The question of symmetrical effects between Pigouvian taxes and subsidies has generated a great deal of discussion in the literature; does a per-unit subsidy for pollution abatement yield the same outcome as a per-unit tax on pollutant emission, if both account for the marginal damage of the pollution? There seems to be general agreement that in a static equilibrium with all firms sharing the same technology, plant and equipment, properly designed taxes or subsidies are equivalent in their effects (Kamien, et al. (19); Bramhall and Mills (8)). However,

as these conditions are relaxed this symmetry breaks down.

In a dynamic context, bribes and charges may not be symmetrical, especially if production functions are not known to the bribe/charge setting authority. Assume the maximum bribe the authority sets is a static value and for whatever reason the discharging firm's marginal revenue function increases. If the marginal revenue function increases sufficiently, the profit maximizing firm will ignore the bribe and produce as before the authority intervened. If the authority increases the maximum bribe for every change in the demand function, then the result will be symmetrical with the tax result, assuming the information needed to adjust the bribe is costless. If this information is not costless, then the subsidy will be inferior to the tax with respect to controlling pollutant emissions (Kamien, et al. (19), (20); Tullock (36)).

Now assume all firms do not share the same capital stock nor the same technology. Then, within an industry at any time some firms are barely staying in operation, some have marginally failed and left the industry, and some may be enjoying profits. If a subsidy is introduced, ignoring the aforementioned problems, then each firm will reduce its emissions to the level where the marginal cost of emission reduction is equal to the subsidy. However, if the subsidy is not firm-specific but is based on industry-wide emissions, it is possible that some firms may make a profit on the subsidy. It is also possible that this profit will result in increased output industry-wide through an increase in the number of firms in the industry. There now is profit to be made if the appropriate pollution minimizing production function is used (Baumol and Oates (5)).

The asymmetry which develops between these two control options when these conditions are relaxed implies a tradeoff in efficiency exists.

The tool of pollution rights auction involves setting up a pseudo-market for pollution. In general, a relevant externality exists because a market does not exist which accurately prices this externality, a result of the lack of property rights of the polluted medium or perhaps the high transactions costs associated with a solution. To remedy this situation, a market may be established where polluters bid for the right to pollute. If the number of participants is sufficiently large and the necessary information is known, then this market will approach a competitive situation. The polluters involved will increase their bids to approach their maximum willingness to pay. In this way, firms which value their pollution rights more heavily can still produce and at the same time society has controlled the amount of pollution.

In an imperfect world where information is not costless, the auction method may be desirable. Both the Pigouvian tax and subsidy methods require knowledge of pollution's marginal damage function. The auction rights method also requires this knowledge to a degree. The difference is that a tax and subsidy program must be administered on a continuing basis in a changing economy; the auction method need not.

The remaining tool, that of direct regulation of the polluter, is perhaps the least "economic" of all means. The method involves the use of raw government power and is basically an extension of the "taking" power of government. Under this policy, a maximum amount of pollutant

is allowed, with the level being chosen with regard to human health and safety. Under the static situation described above with respect to the symmetry argument, the direct regulation tool is inferior. Assume that within an industry each firm has a different production function and a different marginal cost relationship. Then an acrossthe-board limitation, which limits each firm's emission to the same level, will not be the least cost means of attaining the desired abatement level.

For the soil erosion case, such a restriction may be a physical limit equal to the tolerance (t) value on soil loss per acre. Such a t value is selected toward the goal of maintaining long term soil productivity (Logan (23)).

CHAPTER II. MODEL

To examine the effects of different policies on soil erosion in the Four Mile Creek watershed, a linear programming model was developed. The unit of analysis is a set of aggregate farms, each of which is representative of a subset of farms in the watershed. These aggregate farms reflect the physical factors associated with a particular subset of farms, such as soil type and field slope. This representation of physical factors is important for soil erosion considerations. Each of these aggregate farms is made up of several soil types which represent the proportion of soils in the individual aggregate.

These aggregate farms are made up of a number of smaller farms. Per farm or average estimates of net income and soil loss by both farm type and for the basin can be obtained.

I assume the objective function of the farmers is to maximize net farm income. The aggregate farm units are made up of several individual farms; assuming no scale economies or diseconomies are associated with the aggregate unit, then both the individual farms and the aggregate farms share the same objective function.

I further assume each of the aggregates act independently of all other aggregates. Therefore, the goal of maximizing net income for each of the aggregates is the same as a goal of maximizing net income for the entire basin. Also, in this manner policy options which serve to restrict soil losses can yield information about how income changes between aggregates, even if total basin-wide income remains constant.

Similarly, a policy which seeks to optimally allocate these restrictions on a watershed basis would consider these five aggregates simultaneously.

For our purposes, net income is taken to be total revenue from cropping activities, minus all costs except returns to land, risk and management. All other labor is assumed to be hired by the operator.

A "baseline" solution is first obtained, reflecting current patterns of cropping practices. This baseline solution necessarily assumes optimality. That is, the solution assumes that with given prices and technology, the farms are operating at their optimal levels of inputs and outputs. Although this may or may not be true, to analyze policy effects this assumption is needed.

Before explaining the model's objective function and constraints, it should be noted that the solution is not the long run solution. Only if the current mix of inputs and outputs is the same as the optimal long run mix, including the farm size variable, will the baseline solution be the long run preintervention solution.

The model assumes a given technology. When looking at long term effects, this technology must be allowed to change. Ruttan and others have stated that scarcity of agricultural production factors induces technological change. Specifically, the presence of scarcity tends to induce technological change in the direction of augmenting the scarce factor's productivity. But as this model seeks to describe a given situation and account for the somewhat shorter term effects of policy actions, the model is not capable of incorporating this change.

While this analysis is assumed to occur in a partial equilibrium setting, this may not be representative. If any or all of these programs were to be adopted nationwide, general equilibrium adjustments could be expected. Prices for farm products would adjust; for a program which forced the dramatic reduction in the acres planted in row crops, one could expect a shift to hay and so a decrease in the price of hay. Also, since the distribution of soil erosion is not homogenous throughout the country, these programs could result in some redistribution of income between farms and regions.

Many assumptions are implicit in the use of a linear programming model. The first of these is the linearity or proportionality assumption. This assumption, put simply, means that outputs are linearly or proportionally related to the input level. This is not a restrictive assumption given the model's linear objective function. However, this implies no scale effects exist for the farmer. If historical patterns reveal anything, larger farms become more prevalent over time. This implies scale effects do exist. Considering the huge investment in machinery needed to farm, it seems reasonable that economies in farm size are present for certain ranges of acreage. It is also possible that new technologies may have the opposite impact on farm size; this is an empirical question the model does not address.

The second assumption is divisibility. The use of the model implies all the inputs are perfectly divisible and continuous. This means that if the results involve one half an acre, the optimum is one half an acre, not necessarily a whole acre. However, the results will be

reported to the next smallest integer.

The third assumption needed is additivity. This assumption requires the sum of inputs used in each cropping mix must equal the total amount of these inputs used by each cropping mix for all the inputs. This assumption must be met for each input and collectively for all inputs.

The fourth assumption is that the model must be constrained or finite. There must be restrictions on the amounts of inputs and outputs that can be used or withdrawn from the system. This requirement is met by having a finite number of possible activities and constraints. In addition, we must assume all variables are nonnegative (Randolph, and Meeks (30)).

The model simulates the effects of different control policies on the level of erosion; the effects of these policies are then analyzed with regard to the baseline solution. Aggregate soil erosion levels and net farm income levels are compared. Finally, administrative costs and the cost effectiveness of each program in controlling soil erosion are compared.

The objective function of the linear programming model is to maximize net revenue or income for each of the five aggregate farms, given as:

(2.1)
$$Z = (max) \sum_{i=1}^{5} R_{i}$$

subject to the aggregate resource constraints and policy directives. The R_i is the total net farm income for aggregate i, as defined earlier. These net income estimates are for an average or expected crop year

and for a price vector which is assumed plausible. Crop yields were estimated on the basis of an average year, as were fertilizer and pesticide inputs.

The net income of the ith aggregate is given by:

(2.2)
$$R_{i} = P_{C} \cdot C_{irjt} + P_{S} \cdot S_{irjt} + P_{H} \cdot H_{irjt} + P_{0} \cdot 0_{irjt}$$
$$- \frac{335}{\Sigma\Sigma\Sigma} A_{irjt} (P_{L} \cdot L_{irjt} + P_{N} \cdot N_{irjt} + P_{P} \cdot P_{irjt} + P_{K} \cdot K_{irjt}$$

i	=	1,	2,	3,	4,	5	referring	to	the	watershed aggregate
r	=	1,	2,	3			referring	to	the	rotation used
j	=	1,	2,	3			referring used	to	the	conservation practice
t	=	1,	2,	3,	4,	5	referring	to	the	tillage practice used

where:

PC	:	price of	corn			
C.	:	bushe1s	of corn	sold	in	

P_H : price of hay

- H irjt : tons of hay sold in the ith aggregate using the rth rotation, the jth conservation practice, and the tth tillage practice
- Po : price of oats
- 0_irjt : bushels of oats sold in the ith study aggregate using the rth rotation, the jth conservation practice, and the tth tillage practice
- A irjt : acres in cultivation in the ith study aggregate, using the rth rotation, the jth conservation practice, and the tth tillage practice
- P_T : price of labor or wage rate
- Lirjt : hours of labor used in the ith study aggregate for the rth rotation, the ith conservation practice, and the tth tillage practice
- $P_{_{N}}$: price of nitrogen
- N_{irjt} : pounds of nitrogen used in the ith study aggregate for the rth rotation, the jth conservation practice, and the tth tillage practice
- P_p : price of phosphorous
- P irjt : pounds of phosphorous used in the ith study aggregate for the rth rotation, the jth conservation practice, and the tth tillage practice
- P_K : price of potassium

tillage practice

- P_{HB} : price vector of herbicides
- HB_{irjt}: units of corresponding herbicide applied in the ith study aggregate for the rth rotation, the jth conservation practice, and the tth tillage practice
- P_T : price vector of insecticides
- I injt : units of corresponding insecticide applied in the ith
 study aggregate for the rth rotation, the jth conservation
 practice, and the tth tillage practice
- P_M : price vector of machinery services
- M irjt : units of corresponding machinery service used in the ith study aggregate for the rth rotation, the jth conservation practice, and the tth tillage practice.

Given this formulation of the objective function, the only physical constraint in the model is that acreages in a given aggregate must not exceed the total acreage available:

(2.3) $\sum A_{irjt} \le A_i$

The effects of government policies are incorporated into the model by imposing new constraints and changing the parameter estimates in the model. The purpose of these changes is to reflect changes in the farmer's decision variables and to simulate the effect of direct regulation of soil loss in the study area. The policies are:

 Government limitation on per acre soil loss. Soil loss comes about as a result of the farmer's choice of crop rotation, tillage practice, and conservation practice, and the given soil types of the

land. Due to its causes, soil loss can be regulated by either restricting the possible choices of practices or by restricting average soil loss per acre, as determined by the Universal Soil Loss Equation (Wischmeier and Smith (44)). These restrictions on practices are seen as eliminating certain practices by government edict, thereby reducing the farmer's choices. The per-acre soil loss restriction can be seen as limiting erosion to an average of three, five, or ten tons of soil loss per acre. All three levels are examined.

These levels are selected to be representative t values, mentioned earlier. A brief discussion of the t values is needed at this point. Tolerance values vary between one and five tons of soil loss per acre per year. They were originally formulated for benchmark soils in 1962, and were based on three criteria (Smith and Stamey (35); Logan (23)). A rate was needed that would reduce soil loss to a level which would maintain soil productivity over the long term. Also, a rate was needed which would retard severe gullying and at the same time be consistent with maintaining plant nutrient levels. These criteria are based on the recognition that soil is a renewable resource, albeit one with a long gestation period.

While the t values were selected with regard to topsoil thickness, their use should be prudent. Although this thickness in part determines the particular value, little regard was paid to the ability of the subsoil to grow crops in the event of total topsoil loss. Many of these subsoils could function well as top soil, especially once the organic content is increased. Thus, these t values may in fact hold

little relevance for the true acceptable rate of soil loss, as defined by the three criteria (Logan (23)).

2. User charges or taxes. Under this policy, soil loss is taxed on a per-ton basis. The tax rate is determined by the change in the erosion level. Different tax levels are entered into the model to determine a relationship between soil erosion and tax levels. The soil erosion resulting from each tillage practice, rotation selection, and conservation practice mix is taxed at \$1, \$5, \$10 per ton.

3. Subsidies. These subsidies can take two forms: a general per ton subsidy based on soil erosion abatement or a specific subsidy. The per ton subsidy is paid directly to farmers and is based on the decrease in soil erosion from a base level. This base level is the erosion level obtained in the baseline solution. For every ton of soil the operator saves above the base level, using the least cost means, the operator will receive \$S, some subsidy level. This subsidy level varies between the same levels as the tax solution.

The practice-specific subsidy supports the use of certain practices, the decision having been made before hand that these practices were the most desirable for erosion abatement. The subsidy serves to decrease the costs associated with using these practices, thereby increasing the net income derived from acreages where these practices are relevant. These practices include terracing, contouring, and zero-till planting.

The tax or charge and the general subsidy are expected to be equivalent in their effect on the pollution level. A tax on the discharge will result in the profit maximizing operator discharging

effluent or allowing soil erosion up to the level where marginal abatement costs just equal the tax. A general subsidy will result in the profit maximizer adopting soil conservation measures to the point where marginal abatement costs equal the subsidy. The tax program and the subsidy program are expected to result in the same level of abatement. However, income levels will be different. Also, a problem exists since the subsidy level is determined by abatement, figured from some level. The tax solution is based solely on erosion abatement, regardless of the base level.

Different subsidy levels are encountered in the model with respect to the practice specific subsidies. The costs of terracing and zero-till planting are hypothesized to be shared by some government agency, at varying rates. Levels of 50 percent, 75 percent, and 90 percent subsidization are examined for their effects. The selection of these levels to test was largely arbitrary and intended to be expository of the nature of farmers reactions to conservation practices.

CHAPTER III. STUDY AREA DATA

The Study Area

The study area under analysis is the Four Mile Creek watershed, a drainage basin for a tributary of Wolf Creek. The basin is wholly contained within Tama County, Iowa, and is principally located in Lincoln and Grant townships; a small portion of the basin is in Crystal township. The watershed is comprised of some eight thousand acres, nearly all of which are in agricultural use.

The predominant soil of the basin is Tama Silt Loam, although Downs Silt Loam and soils of the Wabash-Judson complex are present in considerable amounts. The basin is made up to a large extent by undulating to level, dark-colored, well-drained soils, i.e., soils having slopes of less than eight percent.

The more moderate colored soils, such as the Downs Silt Loams, are generally characterized by steeper slopes. Gradients of twelve to sixteen percent are not uncommon, although such soils do not make up a large portion of the basin (see Table 3.1).

All of these soils except the Wabash series are derived from loess, a finely textured silty deposit usually laid down by wind (Batten and Gibson, (3)). The thickness of this loess varies, but generally is about ten feet thick in the watershed (Aandahl and Simonson (1)). On the more hilly sections the loess is much less thick. The Wabash soils are flood plain deposits, usually gently sloping (gradients of two to five percent). These Wabash soils, due to their flood plain location, are

	Slope classification ^b					
Soil type	A	В	С	D	E	
Downs silt loam	500					
Tama silt loam	2100	2200	600			
Wabash-Judson	2000					
Muscatine silt loam	400					

Table 3.1. Soil type acreages of Four-Mile Creek Watershed^a

^aSource: Aandahl and Simonson (1).

^bSlope classifications: A = 0-2%; B = 2-5%; C = 5-9%; D = 9-14%.

Table 3.2. Corn suitability ratings for major soil types and slope phases in Four-Mile Creek Watershed^a

Slope phase	Corn suitability rating
A	90
A	100
В	95
С	78
D	68
А	60
Α	100
	A A B C D A

^aFenton, et al. (12).

^bSlope classifications: A = 0-2%; B = 2.5%; C = 5-9%; D = 9-14%.

usually fingerlike extensions which follow the streambed.

The basin is made up of soils ideally suited for row crops, particularly corn. A Corn Suitability Rating (CSR) is an index of a soil's ability to foster corn growth; the CSR's for the most prevalent soils in the Four Mile Creek watershed are very high and are given in Table 3.2. These soils are among the best in the world for growing corn and soybeans (Batten and Gibson (3)).

Model Data Requirements

The formulation of the model required various types of data derived from very different sources. Principally, yield data for crop rotations, various input requirements, and soil erosion levels corresponding with different mixes of crop rotation, conservation practice, and tillage practice were needed. The first two sets were needed to obtain the net revenue figures the model seeks to maximize. Soil erosion levels were needed to simulate the effects of government action and to indicate the extent of the externality associated with different cropping practices.

Yield data were required to find gross revenue or income figures from cropping activities for each of the five study aggregates. These data came from two sources: a survey of farmers in the watershed and publications of the Iowa State University Agronomy Extension office.

The farmer survey was conducted by Dr. John Miranowski during the months of March and April, 1980. This survey provided data for different crop rotation and tillage practice mixes and was useful in determining

the timing of tillage operations. The Extension Office publications provided yield data for specific crops.

Input data were required so that net revenue figures could be determined. These estimates came from a variety of sources, including both the survey and Extension publications mentioned above. Fertilizer requirements were derived from Extension publications. Suggested fertilizer levels were available for different management levels and subsoil moisture levels (Voss (41)). The higher levels were chosen because generally the farms in the watershed are intensely managed, based upon a survey of local producers.

These fertilizer requirements were given for basic soil types; in calculating fertilizer requirements for different slope phases of the same soil type, a proportionate measure was used. That is, a proportion of the fertilizer requirements similar to the proportionate yield of the soils was used. A soil whose yield was ninety percent of the best soil within that classification was assumed to require ninety percent of that best soil's fertilizer requirements. This interpolation method is consistent with the method used by the Extension Service for the general fertilizer recommendations (Voss (41)). These fertilizer requirements are given in Tables A.1 and A.2.

Pesticide requirements were determined in a three stage process. First, the percent of organic matter in the soils was determined. This percent divided the soils into three classifications: heavy, medium and light. Next, the survey data were examined to determine the type of pesticide used. Finally, a pesticide guide was consulted to

determine the correct level of application for both herbicides and insecticides. These values were selected for specific crop rotations and tillage practices, the respective herbicide values are given in Tables A.3a to A.3e. The insecticide requirements are the same for all soil types and are relevant only for corn; the insecticide Counter 15G is applied at a rate of six and one-half (6.5) pounds per acre (1978 Chemical Crop Protection Guide (28)).

Net revenue figures were derived for each crop rotation, tillage practice, and conservation mix for each study aggregate. These net revenue figures were obtained using the farm budget generator. This generator takes described input and output levels and, using given prices, yields a set of data from which net revenue as defined for the model can be derived. These prices are given in Table A.4.

The soil composition of the study aggregates was determined on an <u>ad hoc</u> basis. A map of farm ownership boundaries was superimposed on a map of soil types in the basin. Visual inspection led to the conclusion that there were five types of farms, or five sets of farms which generally shared the same soil makeup. The description of each study aggregate is given in Table 3.3.

Measurement of Soil Erosion

The study area contains six prevalent soil types and slope phases of those types; in addition, approximately nine soil types are present in insignificant amounts. The measure of soil erosion from these soils is given by the Universal Soil Loss Equation (USLE). The USLE was

Farm	Soil type ^a	Proportion	Acreage
1	WM	.5	15%
	DSL	.5	
2	TSL	.5	35%
	TSR	.25	
	TSE	.25	
3	TSE	.50	20%
	WM	.33	
	TSR	.17	15%
4	TSL	.5	
	TSR	.33	
	WM	.17	
5	TSL	.5	15%
	TSR	.25	
	MS	.25	

Table 3.3. Aggregate farm soil types and corresponding proportion and acreage

^a WM: Wabash silt loam - 0-2% DSL: Downs silt loam - 2-5% TSL: Tama silt loam - 2-5% TSR: Tama silt loam - 5-9% TSE: Tama silt loam - 9-14% MS: Muscatine silt loam - 0-2%. developed by a branch of the U. S. Department of Agriculture as an attempt to reduce the gross soil loss in tons per unit area to all major factors influencing sheet and soil erosion (Wischmeier and Smith (44)). Its use is most valid east of the Mississippi river and in Iowa and Missouri. The USLE has the form:

 $(3.1) \quad A = R \cdot K \cdot L \cdot S \cdot C \cdot P$

- where: A = computed soil loss in tons per acre for a given period. R = the rainfall erosivity index for the given period in feet ton units. This represents the effect of a raindrop's impact and the intensity of the rainfall.
 - K = the soil erodibility factor. K reflects the inherent erosion characteristics of the soil. The factor is determined empirically and is the ratio of erosion per unit of R from a unit plot of each soil type. This unit plot was chosen to be one acre of land in continuous fallow condition, tilled for a period of at least two years, having a slope of nine percent and a slope length of seventy-two and six-tenths (72.6) feet. On the unit plot, L, S, C, and P equal unity and K then becomes A divided by R (Morgan (27)).
 - L·S = the slope length and steepness factors. The slope length factor, L, and the slope steepness factor, S, are usually combined into a single factor, LS. LS is the ratio of soil loss per unit area from a particular field to that

of the unit plot. This factor is computed with a formula estimated by Wischmeier and Smith (44).

$$(3.2) LS = L^{1/2} (.0076 + .0535 \cdot S + .00076 \cdot S^2).$$

C = the crop factor. It is the ratio of soil loss for a given rotation to that from bare soil.

P = the conservation practice or support practice factor. It is the ratio of soil loss under a given practice on a particular soil to the soil loss resulting from straight row tillage.

The R value for the study area was supplied by the U.S.D.A. and was found to be 175. The K values for each of the major soil types and associated slopes are given in Table 3.4.

The C values, relating crop and management effects on erosion, were determined by the use of a U.S.D.A. technical publication (U.S.D.A. (37)). These values are given for each rotation, tillage method, and conservation practice. These rotations include continuous corn (C-C), corn followed by soybeans (C-B), and corn followed by corn followed by oats followed by two years of meadow (C-C-O-M-M). The tillage methods considered are fall moldboard plowing (FM), fall chisel plowing (FC), spring moldboard plowing (SM), spring chisel plowing (SC), and a zero tillage method (NT). The conservation practices considered are straight row or up-and-down plowing, contour plowing, and terraced fields. The C factors for crop rotations and tillage practices are contained in Table 3.5.

Soil typeKDowns silt loam.32Tama silt loam.32Wabash-Judson.10Muscatine silt loam.28

^aPaul Rosenberry, Economics and Statistics Service, U.S.D.A., Iowa State University. Private communication, June 15, 1980.

Table 3.5. USLE C factors for crop rotations	and	tillage	practice [®]
--	-----	---------	-----------------------

	Crop rotation	
C-C	С-В	С-С-О-М-М
.48	.56	.17
.25	.32	^b
.36	.46	.10
.22	.28	.09
.07	.09	.04
	.48 .25 .36 .22	C-C C-B .48 .56 .25 .32 .36 .46 .22 .28

^aSource: U.S.D.A. (37).

 ${}^{\rm b}\text{C-C-O-M-M}$ rotation is not associated with the fall chisel plow tillage practice.

Table 3.4. K values for major soil types^a

The P values, the support practice factors, were derived from the Wischmeier and Smith publication (44). These values are given for contour tillage and contour tillage on terraced fields. Contour tillage is effective only on fields of sufficient slope length. If a field's slope is sufficiently steep and its length short enough, then the ridges formed by contour plowing will be destroyed more frequently as storms increase in intensity. Maximum slope lengths for contouring without terracing are given below. I assume no contour plowing can occur on fields which exceed these values. Rather, for the operator to contour plow these steep slopes, he must first terrace (Wischmeier, and Smith (44)).

Slope phase	Maximum length (feet)
A	400
В	300
С	200
D	120
E	80

Terracing serves to decrease the field's slope length, reducing the speed of the runoff. Because of this, terracing affects the USLE not only through the P or support practice factor but also through LS, the slope length factor (Wischmeier and Smith (44)). The new maximum slope lengths are given below:

Slope phase	Maximum length (feet)
A	175
В	130
С	120
D	120
E	110

The P values for contour plowing, including the use of terraces, are given in Table 3.6. Terracing costs are assumed to be only construction costs and increased fuel usage. The increased fuel usage is the same as the increase for contouring. The terraces considered are backslope terraces where the backslope of the terrace is grass covered. The construction costs of these terraces are based on a price per linear foot; the amount of linear feet needed varies according to the terrace spacing requirement. For a given area, this spacing requirement is determined by the slope of the land (James (17)). Terrace spacing requirements for different slopes are given in Table 3.7. The amount of linear feet of terracing that each slope classification requires can be estimated by the ratio of the number of square feet in an acre to the required spacing, yielding the second column of Table 3.7. Terracing costs were then estimated to be the number of linear feet of terracing needed times a fixed rate per linear foot of \$1.11 (James (17)).

The cost of contour plowing is assumed to be entirely increased fuel usage. The percentage increase in fuel use by slope classification is: A-5%, B-5%, C-5%, D-7%, E-7% (Walker (42)).

A note of caution in the use of the USLE is needed. The USLE was designed to predict the long term average soil losses in runoff for specific cropping and management practices. It is an average measure of gross soil loss through runoff and as an average measure has some variability. The parameter values can be expected to vary greatly from storm to storm but it is thought these variations tend to offset

Contour tillage P value
.60
.50
.50
.60
.70

Table 3.6. USLE P factor for slope classification

Table 3.7. Terrace spacing requirement^a

Slope phase	Horizontal spacing (feet)	Linear feet requirement
А	220	198
В	110	396
С	100	435
D	82	530
E	75	580

^aSource: James (17).

one another in the long term.

Also, the USLE was originally presented as a model explaining soil loss east of the Rocky Mountains. Experience has shown it to be most reliable in the humid areas where rainfall is more frequent and soils have better infra-structures (Morgan (27)).

Administrative Costs

Administrative costs for each policy program were determined on the basis of conversations with Ted Hall, Soil Conservation Service district agent for Tama County. I questioned Mr. Hall as to personnel needs for each program and anticipated legal costs. I felt the largest cost associated with each program would be in personnel and their time. Accordingly, the only costs included were those pertaining to personnel and their support. These personnel costs are broken down into four categories: farm-needs-analysis costs, monitoring costs, reporting costs, and fixed costs of needed personnel. This breakdown is not meant to totally account for all costs of each program; printing, transportation, laboratory testing and many other costs are sure to be incurred. However, I felt these were either insignificant or would be the same for all programs. Thus the costs given are meant to be expository of each program's total cost, not necessarily a true delineation.

The costs as presented can be seen as continuing costs and onetime or start-up costs. The farm needs analysis costs are best seen as one-time costs, since they do not recur over the life of a policy. The monitoring costs, reporting costs and fixed costs of personnel are continuing costs and so are given on an annual basis.

The costs of each program, in terms of time, are different although some factors are nearly the same. For instance, reporting costs do not vary greatly between programs. This is because I assumed writing

and typing requirements were nearly the same for all programs, an assumption Mr. Hall agreed with.

Farm-needs-analysis costs are based on the number of trips a technician needs to make to the farm site. Each hour of the technician's time is assumed to cost \$7.00, based on an annual salary of approximately \$14,500. Each hour of a secretary's time costs \$4.50, based on an annual salary of approximately \$9,500. These needs-analysis-costs vary with the intensity of observation and the number of trips. The intensity of observation is reflected in the time spent per trip. Generally, a program which requires more time to analyze the problem will cost more than a simpler program. For instance, direct regulation of soil loss is very time consuming in the needs analysis stage whereas the direct regulation of specific practices is not. The former requires a knowledge of what is occurring whereas the latter is only concerned with what practices are used in the future. The needs analysis costs of the terracing program include fifty hours of planning and supervision of construction per farm.

Monitoring costs are determined in much the same way. These costs vary with the number of trips needed to each farm and with the amount of work to be done at each farm. The direct regulation of soil loss requires several visits per year with approximately one hour per visit to check the soil loss, whereas a program such as the direct regulation of specific practices requires very little monitoring time per visit. Both the tax solution and the general subsidy solution require large amounts of monitoring time to enable an accurate determination of the

tax and subsidy levels. The specific subsidy program's costs do not vary much between each program. The terracing option requires much the same monitoring time as does the zero tillage subsidy.

Office maintenance costs include office space, at thirty-five square feet per person, and fixed labor costs of twenty percent of salary. The office space costs are not charged to any program, only set forward. The fixed labor costs are determined by the number of employees needed. These costs are given in Tables B.1 to B.5.

The presence of these administrative costs serves to increase the social cost of erosion abatement for each program. The administrative costs, as presented, are not intended to represent all of the administrative costs of a program. Information costs and enforcement costs would be incurred. It is plausible to assume that as abatement increases information costs would remain constant; the same assumption is not necessarily plausible for enforcement costs. As pollution decreases, the enforcement of further prescribed decreases could become more difficult. At these higher abatement levels more incentive exists to avoid the program.

It is in the area of enforcement costs that legal costs are most relevant. No figures for anticipated legal costs are given because none were available. However, Mr. Hall felt that generally any program which took a farmer's money would meet stiff legal resistance. Thus it was felt the subsidy and direct regulation policies would result in lower legal costs than the tax program. Also, the direct regulation, by both practice and soil loss, would result in higher legal costs than

39a

the subsidy approaches. Only the relative costs were discussed, as Mr. Hall was reluctant to place a monetary figure on any program's legal costs.

If the enforcement costs of these programs were known and accounted for, the optimal level of abatement would certainly be less. The results presented in the next chapter would change. The marginal costs of abatement would increase with the exact magnitude depending upon the enforcement cost function. The relative marginal social costs of each set of programs could be expected to change, implying a different optimal policy.

CHAPTER IV. ANALYSIS OF POLICY OPTIONS FOR CONTROLLING SOIL EROSION

In order to compare the effects of different policies, the computer simulation was initially run with no policy constraints. This initial simulation will be referred to as the base line solution or the base run. The results of this and all other simulations are given in Appendix C.

Base Line Solution

In the base line solution the model selected a continuous corn rotation on all soils except those of the Wabash series. The cornsoybeans rotation was selected for the Wabash soils. All farmland was tilled in a straight row fashion, with no contouring or terracing occurring. The optimum result involved all the continuous corn being tilled using a chisel plow in the fall. A chisel plow in the spring was the optimal tillage method for the corn-soybeans rotation, used on the Wabash soils.

This baseline solution resulted in a net income of \$1,782,510 from cropping activities, or approximately \$228.53 per acre in the basin. Since there are one hundred and four farms in the basin, this solution implies a net income of \$17,139,75 per farm; this is an average figure based on an average of seventy-five acres per farm. Associated with this net income figure is a gross soil loss estimated to be approximately 73,815 tons within the entire watershed. This is an average soil loss per acre of 9.46 tons. The results of this baseline simulation are given in Table C.1.

Tax on Soil Loss

The analysis of government intervention in the soil erosion problem first involved the use of a tax on soil erosion. This tax is on a perton basis and the same rate applies throughout the basin. Levels of \$1.00, \$2.00, \$5.00, and \$10.00 per ton were investigated for their effect on soil loss and net income from cropping activities. The results of these taxes are given in Table C.1.

A tax of \$1.00 per ton of soil loss dramatically decreased basin wide soil loss while barely decreasing basin net income. Under this policy, gross soil loss was estimated to be 39,062 tons or a decrease of 34,753 tons. Meanwhile, net income decreased from \$1,782,510 to \$1,741,720, a drop of \$40,790; this decrease in net income is very close to the amount of revenue the government is assumed to have collected.

The imposition of the \$1.00 per ton tax resulted in substitution between tillage practices and conservation practices, but no substitution between crop rotations. The Wabash soils still used the chisel plow in the spring for the corn-soybeans rotation, but they were the only soils unchanged. The use of a chisel plow in the fall became the prevalent tillage practice. Also, contour plowing became the most prevalent direction of plowing, occurring on 5,400 acres.

A tax of \$2.00 per ton did not result in as dramatic a change as the \$1.00 tax; under this program, erosion decreased to 37,723 tons, a decrease from the baseline erosion level of 36,092 tons. Basin wide net income decreased from the baseline level by \$79,850 to

\$1,702,660. While this may be a significant effect, the difference in erosion abatement between tax levels of \$1.00 and \$2.00 per ton is 1,339 tons. Meanwhile, net income decreased from the \$1.00 tax level result of \$1,741,720 to the \$2.00 tax level result of \$1,702,660, a drop in net income of \$39,060. At this tax level, there is no change in cropping practices or crop rotations from the \$1.00 tax level.

The decrease in soil loss from the \$1.00 tax level to the \$2.00 tax level was entirely due to a change in tillage practice on the steeper slopes. Under the \$1.00 tax, the D-slope classification land was farmed using a chisel plow in the fall in a contour direction for the continuous corn rotation. With the \$2.00 tax per ton on soil erosion, these more steeply sloped soils are farmed using a chisel plow in the spring, still following the contour and using the continuous corn rotation.

The next run involved a tax of \$5.00 per ton of soil erosion. With a tax levy of this rate, soil erosion decreased by 45,160 tons to 28,655 tons basin wide. Income also decreased to \$1,607,310, a drop of \$175,200. At this tax level, there is a large amount of substitution between tillage practices, although contour cropping and straight row cropping are the only conservation practices entering into the solution. The use of a chisel plow in the spring is now a common tillage practice and a zero tillage practice becomes profitable on the steeper slopes.

The final tax level examined is the \$10.00 per ton rate. A tax at this level reduces net income for the basin to \$1,516,690, a drop of

\$256,820 from the baseline solution. Gross soil erosion is estimated to be 15,835 tons a decrease of 57,980 tons from the baseline solution. While contour plowing was still the most prevalent plowing direction, a large amount of land moved from using a chisel plow in the spring to using a zero tillage method of plowing and planting. There was also a large amount of substitution between crop rotations; whereas under the \$5.00 tax program, 2,600 acres were planted in the cornsoybeans rotation, with the \$10.00 tax, 4,700 acres used this rotation.

The tax policy incurs certain administrative costs and these administrative costs are the same regardless of the tax level. These costs were estimated to be approximately \$17,260 (see Table B.1). As an attempt to present the administrative costs of each policy in a more integrated form, the per ton social costs of erosion abatement are presented in Tables 4.1 to 4.3. These are average social costs of abatement only to the extent that the administrative costs, as presented, are reflective of each program's social costs. Also included in the social cost is a measure of the dead weight loss of each program, seen as the difference between the change in income and the change in government revenues. No marginal social costs of abatement are given because the enforcement costs, which are functionally related to the abatement level, were not available.

Subsidy for Soil Loss Abatement

Under this program, a subsidy of \$1.00, \$2.00, \$5.00, and \$10.00 per ton of soil erosion abatement is offered. The subsidy is figured from the baseline erosion. For every ton of soil loss decreased from

43a

	Tax rate (per ton)			
	\$1.00	\$2.00	\$5.00	\$10.00
Decrease in basin income	\$40,790	\$79,850	\$175,310	\$265,820
Decrease in basin soil erosion (tons)	34,755	36,102	45,155	57,980
Net increase in govern- ment revenue ^a	+17,495	+54,945	+208,515	+562,540
Social cost of erosion abatement (per ton) ^b	.33	.69	.74	5.12

Table 4.1. Social cost of a one-year per ton tax program

^aNet increase in government revenue is defined to be the government tax revenue less administrative costs.

^bSocial cost of erosion abatement defined as the difference between the change in basin income and the net change in government revenue.

Table 4.2. Social cost of a one-year per ton subsidy program

		the second s			
	Subsidy rate (per ton)				
	\$1.00	\$2.00	\$5.00	\$10.00	
Increase in basin income	\$50,790	\$79,850	\$175,210	\$265,820	
Decrease in basin soil erosion (tons)	34,755	36,102	45,155	57,980	
Net decrease in govern- ment revenue ^a	54,205	91,655	245,225	599,250	
Social cost of erosion abatement (per ton) ^b	.39	.33	1.55	5.75	

^aTotal decrease in government revenue is defined to be the sum of the government outlays for the subsidy program and the administrative costs.

^bSocial cost of erosion abatement is defined as the difference between the change in basin income and the total decrease in government revenue.

	Limitat	ion level (per	acre)
	10 tons	5 tons	3 tons
Decrease in basin income	\$20,260	\$99,940	\$152,510
Decrease in basin soil erosion (tons)	37,760	51,995	57,460
Social cost of erosion abatement (per ton) ^a	. 97	2.24	2.94

Table 4.3. Social cost of a one-year policy restricting per acre soil erosion

^aSocial cost of erosion abatement is defined as the sum of the decrease in basin income and the administrative costs.

the baseline solution, the farmer receives the subsidy level. Just as with the tax solution, this soil loss level is assumed to be based on the USLE.

Assuming the farmer is a net revenue maximizer, a per-unit subsidy will reduce soil erosion by the same level as a per unit tax. The difference in the short run is that income will increase. The results of the per-unit subsidy analysis are given in Table C.2. This per-unit subsidy program's administrative costs and the per-ton social cost of erosion abatement are presented in Tables B.1 and 4.2, respectively.

Direct Regulation of Practices

The policy option of direct regulation of certain practices involves eliminating these practices from the farmer's set of choices. The only practice that is considered is a ban on the use of a moldboard plow in the fall. This ban has no effect since the preintervention optimal solution does not involve the use of a moldboard plow at any time.

Direct Regulation of Per Acre Soil Loss

This policy option limits soil erosion to certain levels per acre. This restriction can be seen in two ways: limiting average soil loss for the entire basin to certain levels and limiting soil loss on any acre to certain levels.

The first method allows a great amount of variation in the erosion from fields in the basin. Erosion may vary from none to essentially any level within the basin, so long as the average is less than the limit. This method may be valid if one is more concerned with sediment in the stream than actual soil loss. One may be more concerned about the soil actually leaving the basin; in that case, it may be of no concern how variable erosion is within the basin.

The second method allows less variation in soil loss than the average restriction. This method limits erosion on every acre within the basin to less than prescribed levels. The average restriction is examined first. The results of both the average and per acre restrictions are reported in Table C.3.

Initially an average soil loss restriction of ten tons per acre was imposed. This restriction, however, was not a binding restriction and resulted in the baseline solution being optimal. This was because the average loss under the baseline was less than the ten ton restriction imposed.

Next, an average soil loss restriction of five tons per acre was imposed. This became a binding restriction, decreasing basin-wide net revenue and basin wide soil erosion. Soil erosion for the basin was 39,000 tons, a decrease of 34,815 tons. Basin wide net revenue decreased by only \$1,855 to \$1,780,650. Almost the entire decrease in erosion is due to a shift in production to contouring from straight row operations. There was no change in crop rotations selected and a shift of twenty-five acres of the most steeply sloped soil from the use of a chisel plow in the fall to using a chisel plow in the spring.

The final average soil loss restriction was one of three tons per acre. Erosion was reduced to 23,400 tons for the entire basin, a drop of 50,415 tons. Basin wide income was \$1,724,310, a drop of \$58,200. The decreased erosion and revenue was due in part to changes in crop rotations, tillage practices and conservation practices. Six hundred acres changed from continuous corn rotation to a corn-soybeans rotation on the steeper sloped soils. Twenty-nine hundred acres changed tillage practices, compared to the baseline solution. Of these 2,900 acres, 2,300 acres changed to using a chisel plow in the spring while 600 acres changed to using a zero tillage method. All soils except those of slope class A adopted contour tillage under this restriction.

Under the more restrictive per acre limitation, a limit of ten tons per acre was first tried. This limitation served to reduce basin wide net revenue to \$1,762,250, a decrease of \$20,260 from the baseline solution. This same ten ton limitation resulted in a basin wide gross soil loss of 36,055 tons, a drop of 37,760 tons from the erosion resulting from the baseline solution. Most of this decrease in soil erosion came about because of a change in tillage direction away from straight, up and down tillage toward contouring. Twentyeight hundred acres shifted from straight tillage to contour tillage. Some acreages were planted with new crop rotations; 600 acres which used the continuous corn rotation under the baseline solution had a corn-soybeans rotation under the ten ton per acre limitation. In addition, these same 600 acres were now tilled using a zero-tillage method instead of a chisel plow in the fall.

Next, a per-acre soil loss restriction of five tons was imposed. Under this restriction, soil loss on any acre in the basin was not allowed to exceed five tons. Basin wide net revenue decreased by \$99,940 from the baseline solution to \$1,687,570. Concurrently, soil erosion for the basin as a whole decreased to 21,820 tons, a drop of 51,995 tons from the baseline solution. This decrease in basin wide soil erosion was due primarily to a shift on 2,800 acres from using a chisel plow in the fall to using a zero-tillage method and a shift on those same 2,800 acres to using contour plowing. Under the baseline solution, all 2,800 acres had used straight row plowing.

The final per acre soil loss restriction used was a three tons

per acre maximum loss. This is a very restrictive policy because the more steeply sloped soils usually lose more than three tons per acre under almost any combination of crop rotation, tillage practice and conservation practice. In light of the serious restriction this imposes, the resulting basin wide net revenue total of \$1,630,000 is somewhat surprising. This represents a decrease of basin wide net revenue of \$152,510 from the baseline solution. However, basin wide gross soil erosion decreased by 57,460 tons from the baseline solution level of 73,815 tons, to a level of 16,355 tons. The use of terraces on the most steeply sloped soils became optimal under this restriction. These steeply sloped soils also adopted the zero-tillage operation method instead of the previously used chisel plow in the fall. The zero-tillage method was used on 2,800 acres within the basin on the moderate to steeply sloped soils. The results of these restrictions are given in Table C.3.

No attempt was made to determine the administrative costs of the first form of restriction, the average restriction for the entire basin. It seems this form of restriction would have its best application at the farm level, restricting a farm's average soil loss to some level. However, administrative costs were estimated for the per acre restriction policy; these costs are assumed not to vary as the restriction level changes. These costs were estimated to be \$159.25 per farm or a basin wide cost of \$16,560. The per-ton social costs of erosion abatement for this policy are presented in Table 4.3.

47a

erosion abatement of approximately 57,000 tons has an average social cost of approximately \$2.94 per ton of abatement while a similar level of abatement under the tax and subsidy programs indicate an average social cost of \$5.12 and \$5.75 per ton, respectively. These figures imply the policy of restriction is the most efficient. This is not necessarily true.

Conversations with the Iowa Department of Environmental Quality and the Iowa Attorney General's office indicate that legal costs for the policy of restriction would be quite large. The general feeling was that in attorney's time alone, such a policy would easily require between fifty and one hundred hours of time per case. Using the estimate of the number of possible cases which Seitz developed, such a program would imply between two and eight cases for the watershed in the first year (Seitz (32)). Assuming a per-hour cost of fifty dollars for an attorney's time, this policy would result in added legal costs of \$5,000 to \$40,000 for the watershed.

If we make the assumption that the \$5,000 figure applies to the five ton restriction and the \$40,000 figure applies to the three ton restriction, then the social costs of this policy are considerably higher, especially at the larger abatement level. The per ton social costs of abatement, under the five ton per acre policy, increase from \$2.24 to \$2.37 per ton when these additional legal costs are included. Also, the costs of the three ton per acre policy increase, but more dramatically; previously these costs were \$2.94 per ton of abatement but are now \$3.64 per ton.

47Ъ

Subsidization of Terracing Costs

Under this policy, the costs of constructing terraces is subsidized at levels of 50 percent, 75 percent and 90 percent. However, this subsidization does not affect the baseline solution; even at the 90 percent subsidy level, terracing does not become optimal. It is entirely possible that terracing would not become optimal at any level less than 110 percent. This is because the use of terraces also incurs a yield penalty by decreasing the land available for use. So even if construction costs are subsidized at a 100 percent level, terracing would still not become optimal without some restriction on soil loss.

In order to examine the effect of subsidizing terracing and at the same time restricting soil erosion, such a restriction was entered in the model. A subsidy of 50 percent of construction costs is considered in conjunction with a restriction on average soil loss of ten, five, and three tons per acre.

Initially a restriction of ten tons per acre was tried at the same time construction costs were subsidized at a 50 percent level. This subsidy had no effect on the results; that is, the basin wide net revenue and gross soil erosion were the same as under the ten ton per acre restriction without the subsidy.

Next, a restriction of five tons per acre was entered in the model with a 50 percent construction cost subsidy. This mix of construction cost subsidy and per acre restriction resulted in the same basin wide net revenue and gross soil loss as this per acre restriction did

without the subsidy. This is because of the large number of choices available which result in soil erosion less than five tons per acre while yielding more net revenue than terraced operations.

Finally, a restriction of three tons per acre was considered in conjunction with a subsidy of 50 percent of construction costs. It was at this restriction level that terracing was chosen. However, terracing was selected only on the most steeply sloped soils, the same result that was obtained by considering only a per acre restriction of three tons and not considering a subsidy. Basin wide net revenue increased but only by the subsidy level for terracing. Gross soil erosion was the same as under the restriction policy alone. Net revenue was \$1,656,000 and gross erosion was estimated to be 16,355 tons.

The policy of subsidizing terracing costs incurs administrative costs of approximately \$91.40 per farm or \$9,500 for the entire basin. However, such a program, when used in conjunction with a program of direct regulation of gross soil loss, will incur the administrative costs of the direct regulation program. These costs are estimated to be \$159.25 per farm, or approximately \$16,560 for the entire basin. If we assume no economies in administrative costs come about because of the concurrence of the programs, the total administrative costs for such a combination would be the sum of the individual costs, or \$26,060 for the basin.

Subsidy of Purchase of Zero-Till Planter

Under this policy, the purchase of a zero-till planter is subsidized at levels of 50 percent, 75 percent, and 90 percent. It is assumed the purchase price of a zero-till planter is \$5,310. However, the importance of the subsidy is how it affects the variable cost of using the zero-till planter. This effect is through two factors: the capital cost per acre of equipment investment, and the ownership costs of depreciation, taxes and insurance per acre for equipment.

A subsidy level of 50 percent results in a purchase price of \$2,655 and the farmers capital costs and ownership costs are figured on this price. The same is true for the other subsidy levels. Under the 50 percent subsidy program, costs per acre decrease by \$.74, assuming an interest rate of ten percent. With the 75 percent subsidy program, per acre costs decrease by \$1.11; the 90 percent subsidy program results in a per acre cost decrease of \$1.33. These decreases in cost are seen to increase net revenue per acre by the same amount.

Under each of the subsidy levels, the baseline solution did not change. All activities were the same and so basin wide net revenue remained unchanged as did total gross soil erosion.

CHAPTER V. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH NEEDS

The results of the analysis of Chapter IV indicate that several policies are equally effective in controlling soil erosion, but at different levels of administrative cost. The analysis also indicates that several policies are ineffectual in controlling soil erosion.

A \$1.00 per ton tax on gross soil loss resulted in an average soil loss per acre of 5.00 tons, as did the \$1.00 per ton subsidy. This level was the same as the basin average under the policy restricting average soil loss for the entire basin to less than five tons per acre. Basin wide net revenue was significantly different between the programs; the policy of restriction resulted in net revenue of \$1,780,650, while the tax policy resulted in a lower net revenue total of \$1,741,720, a decrease of \$38,930 or an average per farm decrease of approximately \$375. Policy cost comparisons of these two programs are not available.

The results of the \$2.00 tax and subsidy are very nearly equivalent to the ten ton per acre restriction policy, in terms of average gross soil loss. Under the \$2.00 tax program, average soil loss was estimated to be 4.84 tons per acre; under the ten ton per acre restriction, average soil loss was estimated to be 4.62 tons per acre, a difference in total tons for the basin of 1,668 tons. The analysis indicates a large difference, however, in basin net revenue. The \$2.00 per ton tax program resulted in net revenue of \$1,702,660, the \$2.00 per ton subsidy resulted in net revenue of \$1,854,695 and

the ten ton per acre restriction resulted in net revenue of \$1,762,250. Administrative costs also varied significantly between the programs, while these costs were the same for the per-ton tax and per-ton subsidy solutions, they were different for the per-acre restriction solution. The administrative costs for the tax solution were estimated to be \$19,450, while the administrative costs for the per acre restriction policy were approximately \$16,495.

This similarity between programs was present with the per-ton tax and subsidy policies of \$10.00 per ton and the per-acre restriction of three tons per acre. The restriction policy resulted in an average gross soil loss for the basin of 2.10 tons per acre, compared with a loss of 2.03 tons per acre under the tax and subsidy solutions. However, total net revenue did differ significantly between programs. The \$10.00 per ton tax program resulted in net revenue of \$1,516,690, while the \$10.00 per ton subsidy resulted in net revenue of \$2,362,310. Under the three ton per acre restriction, net revenue was \$1,630,000; these differences result in a range of income of \$845,620, or approximately \$8,130 per farm.

While several policies were effective in controlling soil erosion, others were not. The ineffectual policies include subsidies for terrace construction costs and subsidies for the purchase of a zerotill planter. A policy also not having any effect was the policy outlawing the use of a moldboard plow in the fall.

The reason for the ineffectiveness of the latter policy is more a function of the model and the assumptions made than anything else.

I assumed all tillage practices except the zero-till method yielded the same number of bushels, so that the most profitable tillage practice became the one with the least cost; in the base run, this was using a chisel plow in the fall.

The terrace subsidy program's lack of success is due to the costs of terraces, both construction costs and costs of lost land. This program only considered construction costs, but even if these costs are subsidized 100 percent, the farmer still suffers a revenue loss due to lost yield.

The program subsidizing the purchase of a zero-tillage planter failed because of the relative insignificance of the planter itself in the whole operation. The cost of the planter was relatively insignificant compared to the rest of the capital requirements and so effectively did not matter.

Further research needs to be done in a multiperiod framework, because the soil erosion problem is truly a dynamic one. The farmer is depleting his capital stock through soil erosion and may in fact not be acting rationally to maximize the net present value of his wealth. Also, the costs to society are a dynamic problem and are not best seen in a one period analysis.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1.	Aandahl, A. R., and Simonson, R. W. Soil Survey: Tama County,
	Iowa. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1950.
2.	Bator, Francis. "The Anatomy of Market Failure." Quarterly
	Journal of Economics 72 (August 1958):351-379.
3.	Batten, James W., and Gibson, J. Sullivan. Soils. University,
	Alabama: University of Alabama Press, 1977.
4.	Baumol, William J. "On Taxation and the Control of Externalities."
	American Economic Review 62 (June 1972):307-322.
5.	Baumol, William J., and Oates, Wallace E. The Theory of Environ-
	mental Policy. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1975.
6.	Baumol, William J., and Oates, Wallace E. "The Use of Standards
	and Prices for Protection of the Environment." Swedish
	Journal of Economics 73 (March 1971):42-54.
7.	Behn, Ernest E. More Profit with Less Tillage. Des Moines:
	Wallace-Homestead Book Company, 1977.
8.	Bramhall, David, and Mills, Edwin. "Alternative Methods of

- Improving Stream Quality: An Economic and Policy Analysis." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 2 (Third Quarter 1966):355-363.
- 9. Bramhall, David, and Mills, Edwin. "A Note on the Asymmetry Between Fees and Payment." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 2 (Third Quarter 1966):615-616.
- Buckingham, Frank. <u>Fundamentals of Machine Operation: Tillage</u>. Moline: John Deere Service Publications, 1976.

- Ciriacy-Wantrup, S. V. <u>Resource Conservation</u>. Berkeley: University of California Agricultural Publications, 1963.
- 12. Fenton, T. E., Duncan, E. R., Shrader, W. D., and Dumenil, L. C. "Productivity Levels of Some Iowa Soils." Iowa Agriculture and Home Economics Experiment Station and Cooperative Extension Service Special Report Number 66, 1971.
- Fisher, Anthony C., and Peterson, Frederick. "The Environment in Economics: A Survey." <u>Journal of Economic Literature</u> 14 (March 1976):1-33.
- 14. Freeman, A. Myrick. "The Distribution of Environmental Quality." In <u>Environmental Quality Analysis</u>, pp. 243-280. Edited by Allen V. Kneese and Blair T. Bower. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1972.
- 15. Frevert, R. K., Schwab, G. O., Edminster, T. W., and Barnes, K. K. <u>Soil and Water Conservation Engineering</u>. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1955.
- 16. Great Plains Agricultural Council. <u>Conservation Tillage:</u> <u>Proceedings of Conservation Tillage Workshop</u>. Fort Collins: Great Plains Agricultural Council, 1976.
- James, Sydney C. <u>Midwest Farm Planning Manual</u>. Ames: Iowa State University Press, 1979.
- Jennings, Vivan, and Stockdale, Harold. "Herbicide and Soil Insecticides Used in Iowa Corn and Soybean Production, 1977." Iowa Cooperative Extension Service Publication PM-845, 1978.

- 19. Kamien, M. I., Schwartz, N. L., and Dolbear, F. T. "Asymmetry Between Bribes and Charges." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 2 (First Quarter 1966):147-157.
- 20. Kamien, M. I., Schwartz, N. L., and Dolbear, F. T. "Asymmetry Between Bribes and Charges: A Reply." <u>Water Resources</u> Research 2 (Fourth Quarter 1966):856-157.
- 21. Kneese, Allen V., and Bower, Blair T. <u>Managing Water Quality:</u> <u>Economics, Technology and Institutions</u>. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1968.
- 22. Libbin, James D., Moorhead, Charles A., and Martin, Neil R. <u>A User's Guide to the IBM MPSX Programming Package: Part I -</u> <u>Small Models</u>. Urbana: University of Illinois, 1973.
- 23. Logan, T. J. "Estimating Soil Loss and Sediment Yield Limits for Agricultural Land." In <u>Soil Erosion and Sedimentation:</u> <u>Proceedings of the National Symposium on Soil Erosion and</u> <u>Sedimentation by Water</u>. Chicago: American Society of Agricultural Engineers, 1977.
- 24. Maler, Karl G., and Wyzga, Ronald E. <u>Economic Measurement of</u> <u>Environmental Damage</u>. Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1976.
- 25. Meade, James. "External Economies and Diseconomies in a Competitive Situation." Economic Journal 62 (March 1952):54-67.
- 26. Miranowski, J. A. "The Demand for Agricultural Crop Chemicals Under Alternative Farm Program and Pollution Control Solutions." Ph.D. dissertation, Harvard University, 1975.

- Morgan, R. P. C. <u>Topics in Applied Geography: Soil Erosion</u>. London: Longman Group Limited, 1979.
- <u>1978 Chemical Crop Protection Guide</u>. Land O'Lakes, Minnesota: Felco Corporation, 1978.
- Portney, Paul R., ed. <u>Current Issues in U.S. Environmental</u> <u>Policy</u>. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1978.
 Randolph, Paul, and Meeks, Howard. <u>Applied Linear Optimization</u>.

Columbus: Grid, Inc., 1978.

- 31. Schaller, Frank W., and Ameyiya, Min. "Conservation Tillage: Methods and Procedures." Mimeographed. Department of Agronomy, Iowa State University.
- 32. Seitz, W. D. <u>Alternative Policies for Control of Nonpoint Sources</u> of Water Pollution from Agriculture. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1978.
- 33. Sharp, Basil M., and Bromley, Daniel W. <u>Agricultural Pollution:</u> <u>Methodological Issues and Policy Needs</u>. Madison: University of Wisconsin, 1978.
- 34. Smith, R. M., and Stamey, William L. "A Conservation Definition of Erosion Tolerance." <u>Soil Science</u> 97 (March 1964):183-187.
- Smith, R. M., and Stamey, William L. "Determining the Range of Tolerable Erosion." <u>Soil Science</u> 100 (December 1964):414-424.
 Tullock, Gordon. "Asymmetry Between Bribes and Charges: A Comment." Water Resources Research 2 (Fourth Quarter 1966):

854-855.

- U. S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, Iowa. "Field Office Technical Guide, Section III-A," 1973.
- 38. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water Planning and Standards. <u>National Water Quality Inventory: 1977 Report</u> <u>to Congress</u>. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1978.
- 39. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water Planning and Standards. <u>National Water Quality Inventory: 1976 Report</u> <u>to Congress</u>. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1977.
- 40. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water Program Operations. <u>Comparative Costs of Erosion and Sediment</u> <u>Control, Construction Activities</u>. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1973.
- Voss, Regis D. "Guide to Efficient Fertilizer Use." Iowa Cooperative Extension Service Publication PM-471-4, 1969.
- 42. Walker, D. J. "An Economic Analysis of Alternative Environmental and Resource Policies for Controlling Soil Loss and Sedimentation from Agriculture." Ph.D. dissertation, Iowa State University, 1977.
- Wilson, Jerry D. <u>An Environmental Approach to Physical Science</u>. Lexington: D. C. Heath and Company, 1974.
- Wischmeier, Walter H., and Smith, Dwight D. <u>Predicting Rainfall</u>
 <u>Erosion Losses A Guide to Conservation Planning</u>. Washington,
 D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1978.

58a

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to thank my major professor, Dr. John A. Miranowski, for his support and encouragement. I also wish to thank the other members of my graduate committee, Dr. Roy Adams and Dr. Roy Hickman, for the aid and direction they have given me in my graduate work.

I want to especially thank Dr. Paul Rosenberry for his invaluable assistance in finding soil erosion levels. Without his help, my work would have been infinitely more difficult. I also want to express my deep appreciation of Mrs. Shirley Baum for her excellent typing and frequent words of encouragement.

But most of all, I want to thank my wife, Margie, for the love, drive and perseverance she seems to have in abundance. Without her, and her continuous faith in me, nothing would have been possible.

58b

APPENDIX A

Soil type	Rotation	Nitrogen	Phosphorus	Potassium
			(1bs. per acre)	
Downs silt loam	C-C	200	18	50
	C-B	190	18	50
	С-С-О-М-М	100	18	50
Tama silt loam	C-C	200	18	33
	C-B	170	18	33
	С-С-О-М-М	100	18	33
Wabash-Judson	C-C	200	31	25
	C-B	190	31	25
	С-С-О-М-М	100	31	25
Muscatine silt loam	C-C	200	22	33
	C-B	190	22	33
	С-С-О-М-М	100	22	33

						-
Table	A.1.	Fertilizer	applications	for	corn	production

^aSource: Voss (41).

Soil type	Crop	Rotation	Fertilizer		
			Nitrogen	Phosphorus	Potassium
				(lbs. per acre)	
Downs silt loam	Soybeans	С-В		9	17
	Oats	С-С-О-М-М	60	18	42
	Нау	С-С-О-М-М		9	33
Tama silt loam	Soybeans	С-В		13	8
	Oats	С-С-О-М-М	60	18	17
	Нау	С-С-О-М-М		13	17
Wabash-Judson	Soybeans	C-B		22	
	Oats	С-С-О-М-М	60	31	17
	Нау	С-С-О-М-М			17
Muscatine silt loam	Soybeans	С-В		18	8
	Oats	С-С-О-М-М	60	22	17
	Нау	С-С-О-М-М		13	17

Table A.2. Fertilizer applications for soybeans, oats, and hay production^a

^aSource: Voss (41).

Rotation	Soil type	Herbicide	Application (per acre)
C-C	Downs silt loam	Lasso	2.0 quarts (qts.)
		Atrazine	1.2 qts.
	Tama silt loam	Lasso	2.5 qts.
		Atrazine	1.6 qts.
	Wabash-Judson	Lasso	2.0 qts.
		Atrazine	1.2 qts.
	Muscatine silt loam	Lasso	2.5 qts.
	SIIL IOAM	Atrazine	1.6 qts.
C-B or C-C-O-M-M	Downs silt loam	Bladex	2.0 qts.
C-C-O-M-M		Atrazine	.8 qts.
	Tama silt loam	Bladex	2.5 qts.
		Atrazine	1.3 qts.
	Wabash-Judson	Bladex	1.2 qts.
		Atrazine	.6 qts.
	Muscatine silt loam	Bladex	2.5 qts.
1	TOUR	Atrazine	1.3 qts.

Table A.3a. Herbicide requirements for corn production, continuous corn, corn-soybeans, and corn-corn-oats-meadow-meadow rotations, on major soil types^{a,b}

^aSource: 1978 Chemical Crop Protection Guide (28).

^bThese are the requirements for all tillage methods except zerotillage. The requirements for this method are the same for all soil types and are: Lasso, 2.5 qts., Atrazine, 2.5 qts., Paraquat, 1.5 pints, and X-77 (tank mix), 8 ounces per 100 gallons of water, all per acre.

Soil type	Herbicide	Application (per acre)	
Downs silt loam	Treflon	1.5 pints (pts.)	
	Sencor	.75 pts.	
Tama silt loam	Treflon	2.0 pts.	
	Sencor	1.0 pts.	
Wabash-Judson	Treflon	1.0 pts.	
	Sencor	.5 pts.	
Muscatine	Treflon	2.0 pts.	
silt loam	Sencor	1.0 pts.	

Table A.3b.	Herbicide requirements for production of soybeans, co	rn-
	soybeans rotation, on major soil types ^{a, b}	

^aSource: 1978 Chemical Crop Protection Guide (28).

^bThese are the requirements for all tillage methods except zerotillage. These requirements are given in Table 3.4c.

Soil type	Herbicide	Application (per acre)
Downs silt loam	Lasso	2.5 quarts (qts.)
	Lorox	2.0 pounds (1bs.)
	Paraquat	1.5 pints (pts.)
	X-77 (tank mix)	8 ounces (oz.) per 100 gallons of water
Tama silt loam	Lasso	3.0 qts.
	Lorox	3.0 lbs.
	Paraquat	1.5 pts.
	X-77 (tank mix)	8 oz. per 100 gallons of water
Wabash-Judson	Lasso	2.0 qts.
	Lorox	1.5 lbs.
	Paraquat	1.5 pts.
	X-77 (tank mix)	8 oz. per 100 gallons of water
Muscatine	Lasso	3.0 qts.
silt loam	Lorox	3.0 lbs.
	Paraquat	1.5 pts.
	X-77 (tank mix)	8 oz. per 100 gallons of water

Table A.3c.	Herbicide requirements for production of soybeans, corn-
	soybeans rotation, using the zero-tillage method of
	tillage, on major soil types ^a

^aSource: 1978 Chemical Crop Protection Guide (28).

Soil type	Herbicide	Application (per acre)	
Downs silt loam	2,4-D Amine	.75 pints	
Tama silt loam	2,4-D Amine	.75 pints	
Wabash-Judson	2,4-D Amine	.75 pints	
Muscatine silt loam	2,4-D Amine	.75 pints	

Table A.3d. Herbicide requirements for production of oats, corn-cornoats-meadow-meadow rotation, on major soil types^a

^aSource: 1978 Chemical Crop Protection Guide (28).

Table A.3e. Herbicide requirement for production of hay, corn-cornoats-meadow-meadow rotation, on major soil types^a

		Application (per acre)		
Soil type	Herbicide	lst year meadow	2nd year meadow	
Downs silt loam	Tolban	1.0 pints		
	Princep		1.5 pounds	
Tama silt loam	Tolban	2.0 pints		
	Princep		1.5 pounds	
Wabash-Judson	Tolban	1.0 pints		
	Princep		1.5 pounds	
Muscatine	Tolban	2.0 pints		
silt loam	Princep		1.5 pounds	

^aSource: 1978 Chemical Crop Protection Guide (28).

Table A.4. Price vector

Item	Price	Unit
Corn	\$ 3.20	Bushel
Soybeans	6.50	Bushel
Oats	1.60	Bushel
Oat silage	18.00	Ton
Нау	35.00	Ton
Seed corn	55.00	Bag
Soybean seed	10.25	Bag
Oat seed	4.50	Bag
Alfalfa seed	1.20	Pound
Nitrogen	.13	Pound
Potassium	.09	Pound
Phosphorus	.18	Pound
Treflan	3.25	Quart
Sencor 50W	6.95	Quart
Bladex 80W	2.28	Quart
Atrazine 80W	1.95	Quart
Lasso 4E	3.56	Quart
Paraquat	40.00	Gallon
2,4-D Amine	.98	Quart
X-77 tank mix	13.00	Gallon

APPENDIX B

Type of costs	Explanation	Costs (per farm)
Farm needs analysis: ^a	*	
Technician labor	Three hours per farm @ \$7.00 per hour	\$21.00
Monitoring costs:		
Technician labor	Two hours per farm per visit @ \$7.00 per hour for three visits per year	\$42.00
Office labor	One hour per farm per year @ \$4.50 per hour	\$ 4.50
eporting costs:		
Writing	Two hours per farm per year @ \$7.00 per hour	\$14.00
Typing	One hour per farm per year @ \$4.50 per hour	\$ 4.50
office maintenance		
Personnel	Three technicians with fixed labor costs of 20% of their annual salary (\$14,500)	\$83.00
	Two secretaries with fixed labor costs of 20% of their annual salary (\$9.500)	\$18.00
otal		\$187.00

Table B.1. Administrative costs for tax and subsidy policies

^aThe farm needs analysis costs are valid only for the subsidy policy; total cost for the tax policy is then \$166.00 per farm.

Type of costs	Explanation	Costs (per farm)
Farm needs analysis:		
Technician labor (to determine eligi- bility)	Fifty hours per farm @ \$7.00 per hour	\$350.00
Monitoring costs:		
Technician labor	Two hours per farm per year @ \$7.00 per hour	\$14.00
Office labor	One hour per farm per year @ \$4.50 per hour	\$ 4.50
Reporting costs:		
Writing	One hour per farm per year @ \$7.00 per hour	\$ 7.00
Typing	One half hour per farm per year @ \$4.50 per hour	\$ 2.25
Office Maintenance costs:		
Personnel	One technician, with fixed labor costs of 20% of their annual salary (\$14,500)	\$27.90
	One secretary, with fixed labor costs of 20% of her annual salary (\$9.500)	\$18.25
Total		\$423.90

Table B.2. Administrative costs for terracing costs subsidy

Type of costs	Explanation	Costs (per farm)
Farm needs analysis:		
Technician labor	One hour per farm @ \$7.00 per hour	\$7.00
Monitoring costs:	None	
Reporting costs:		
Writing	One half hour per year @ \$7.00 per hour	\$3.50
Typing	None	
Office maintenance cost	s:	
Personnel	One technician, with fixed labor costs of 20% of his annual salary (\$14,500)	\$27.90
	One secretary, with fixed labor costs of 20% of her annual salary (\$9,500)	\$18.25
otal		\$56.65

Table B.3. Administrative costs for zero-till planter subsidy

Type of costs	Explanation	Costs (per farm)
Farm needs analysis:	None	
Monitoring costs:		
Technician labor	One half hour per farm per visit, three visits per year @ \$7.00 per hour	\$10.50
Office labor	Twenty minutes per farm per year @ \$4.50 per hour	\$ 1.50
Reporting costs:		
Writing	Two hours per farm per year @ \$7.00 per hour	\$14.00
Typing	One hour per farm per year @ \$4.50 per hour	\$ 4.50
Office maintenance:		
Personnel	One technician, with fixed labor costs of 20% of annual salary (\$14,500)	\$27.90
	One secretary, with fixed labor costs of 20% of her salary (\$9,500)	\$18.25
Total		\$76.65

Table B.4. Administrative costs for policy of direct regulation of specific practices

Type of costs	Explanation	Costs (per farm)
Farm needs analysis:		
Technician labor	Four hours per farm per visit @ \$7.00 per hour, one analysis	\$28.00
Monitoring costs:		
Technician labor	One square mile per day three times per year, in the spring, summer and fall. With 104 farms and approximately 8,000 acres, one technician can monitor 8.5 farms per day @ \$56.00 per day	\$ 6.60
Office labor	One hour per farm per year @ \$4.50 per hour	\$ 4.50
Reporting costs:		
Writing	Two hours per farm per year @ \$7.00 per hour	\$14.00
Typing	One hour per farm per year @ \$4.50 per hour	\$ 4.50
Office Maintenance costs:		
Personnel	Three technicians, with fixed labor costs of 20% of their annual salary (\$14,500)	\$83.00
	Two secretaries, with fixed labor costs of 20% of their annual salary (\$9,500)	\$18.00
[otal		\$158.60

Table B.5. Administrative costs for policy regulating soil loss by limits

APPENDIX C

Tax level per ton of soil loss		Choice of	tillag res in		.ce	Basin net	Basin gross soil erosion	Ave. soil loss per acre
per year	FMa	FC	SM	SC	NT	revenue	(tons)	(tons)
1. Base run		5,900		1,900		\$1,782,510	73,815	9.46
2. \$1.00		5,800		2,000		1,741,720	39,060	5.00
3. \$2.00		5,260		2,540		1,702,660	37,723	4.84
4. \$5.00		3,000		4,200	600	1,607,300	28,660	3.67
5.\$10.00		2,500		2,500	2,800	1,516,690	15,835	2.03

- ^aFM fall moldboard plow
- FC fall chisel plow
- SP spring moldboard plow
- SC spring chisel plow
- NT zero tillage method.

Subsidy level per ton of soil loss		Choice of	tillag res in		ce	Basin net	Basin gross soil erosion	Ave. soil loss per acre
abated	FMa	FC	SM	SC	NT	revenue	(tons)	(tons)
1. Base run		5,900		1,900		\$1,782,510	73,815	9.46
2. \$1.00		5,800		2,000		1,823,300	39,060	5.00
3. \$2.00		5,260		2,540		1,862,360	37,723	4.84
4. \$5.00		3,000		4,200	600	1,957,720	28,660	3.67
5.\$10.00		2,500		2,500	2,800	2,048,330	15,835	2.03

Table	C.2.	Results	of	subsidizing	soil	loss	abatement

 a FM - fall moldboard plow

FC - fall chisel plow

SP - spring moldboard plow

SC - spring chisel plow

NT - zero tillage method.

Limitation			tillage p res in eac		ce	Basin net	Basin gross soil erosion	Ave. soil loss per acre
levels	FMa	FC	SM	SC	NT	revenue	(tons)	(tons)
l. Base run		5,900	1	,900		\$1,782,510	73,815	9.46
2. 10 tons average		5,900	1	, 900		1,782,510	73,815	9.46
3. 5 tons average		5,775	2	,025	ā.	1,780,650	39,000	5.00
4. 3 tons average		3,000	4	,200	600	1,724,310	23,400	3.00
5. 10 tons per acre		5,200	2	,000	600	1,762,250	36,055	4.62
5. 5 tons per acre		3,000	2	,000	2,800	1,682,570	21,820	2.80
. 3 tons per acre		3,000	2	,000	2,800	1,630,000	16,355	2.10

Table C.3. Results of policy directly controlling soil loss through limita
--

 a FM - fall moldboard plow

FC - fall chisel plow

SP - spring moldboard plow

SC - spring chisel plow

NT - zero tillage method.